FILED 12-09-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

Scot Van Oudenhoven, Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner,

V.

Wisconsin Department of Justice, **Respondent-Respondent Appeal No. 2023AP000070**

Appeal from the Judgment of the Winnebago County Circuit Court, The Hon. Teresa S. Basiliere

Brief of Petitioner

John R. Monroe **Attorneys for Petitioner** 156 Robert Jones Road Dawsonville, GA 30534 678-362-7650 State Bar No. 01021542

Contents

Statement of Issues

Case 2023AP000070

1. Does an expungement of a Wisconsin conviction qualify as an expungement under 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii)?

Circuit Court's answer: No.

Court of Appeals' answer: No (Van Oudenhoven v. Wisconsin Department

of Justice, 2024 WI App. 38)

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

Oral argument is appropriate in this case. The case presents an issue of great statewide interest and oral argument would assist the Court in deciding the case.

The opinion in the case should be published. Van Oudenhoven seeks a ruling of first impression in this state, and one that will have effect on many Wisconsinites purchasing handguns or applying for licenses to carry concealed weapons ("CCWs").

Statement of the Case

This is an action seeking review, under Wis.Stat. § 226.52, of the denial by the Wisconsin Department of Justice (the "Department") of a transfer of a handgun to Van Oudenhoven. The facts of the case are largely uncontested. The Petition sets out Van Oudenhoven's allegations and the following facts were admitted in the Department's Answer:

- 1. Van Oudenhoven brings this action seeking review, under Wis.Stat. § 226.52, of the denial of a transfer of a handgun to Van Oudenhoven.
- 2. [Not admitted].
- 3. Respondent is the Wisconsin Department of Justice (the "Department").
- 4. On or about May 28, 2022, Van Oudenhoven attempted to purchase a handgun.
- 5. The transfer of the handgun to Van Oudenhoven was denied by the Department Crime Information Bureau Firearms Unit.
- 6. Van Oudenhoven requested a review of the denial with the Department Crime Information Bureau Firearms Unit.
- 7. On June 22, 2022, the Deputy Director of the Unit sustained the denial.
- 8. Van Oudenhoven appealed the review.

- 9. On August 1, 2022, the Administrator of the Department Division of Law Enforcement Services affirmed the review.
- 10. Van Oudenhoven has been aggrieved by the decision of the

 Department because he is unable to purchase the handgun and the

 decision of the Department declares him to be ineligible to possess

 firearms.
- 11.[Not admitted].
- 12.[Not admitted].

Additional facts gleaned from the Administrative Record [Doc. 8] are:

- 13. Van Oudenhoven was convicted of battery in 1994 in Calumet County Circuit Court, case # 1994CM113. Doc. 8, p. 2.
- 14. The victim of the battery was the mother of Van Oudenhoven's child. *Id*.
- 15.On May 2, 2019, the Circuit Court of Calumet County entered an order expunging Van Oudenhoven's 1994 conviction. Doc. 10 [Order supplementing the Administrative Record with copy of expungement order].

Argument

A person desiring to purchase a handgun in Wisconsin generally must undergo a background check conducted by the Department. See Wis.Stat. §

175.35 and JUS 10.06. Pursuant to Wis.Stat. § 175.35(2g)(c), the Department is to apply the criteria for eligibility to possess firearms listed in Wis.Stat. § 941.29. The Department then "approves" or "disapproves" of the transfer of the firearm. In the present case, the Department disapproved of Van Oudenhoven's attempt to purchase a handgun based on its conclusion that Van Oudenhoven has been convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence ("MCDV"). Van Oudenhoven will show below that that is not the case.

Van Oudenhoven Has Not Been Convicted of a Misdemeanor Crime of Domestic Violence

Summary: The Circuit Court erred by ruling that Van Oudenhoven's expungement did not qualify as an expungement under 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii).

18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9) generally prohibits possession of firearms by a person convicted of a MCDV. Van Oudenhoven assumes *arguendo* that his 1994 conviction would count as a MCDV under federal law were it not for the expungement. The effect of the expungement is the crux of this case.

18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii) provides:

A person shall not be considered to have been convicted of [a MCDV] for purposes of this chapter if the conviction has been expunged or set aside, or is an offense for which the person has been pardoned or has had civil rights restored (if the law of the applicable jurisdiction provides for the loss of civil rights under

Page 9 of 21

such an offense) unless the pardon, expungement, or restoration of civil rights expressly provides that the person may not ship, transport, possess, or receive firearms.

Van Oudenhoven's expungement [Doc. 10, p. 3] plainly states that Van Oudenhoven filed a Petition to expunge his conviction, and the Court granted the Petition and ordered, "The clerk is ordered to expunge the court's record of the conviction." There is no mention in the expungement regarding Van Oudenhoven's right (or lack thereof) to ship, transport, possess, or receive firearms. Clearly, Van Oudenhoven's conviction has been expunged. The Department, however, takes the position (and the Court of Appeals agreed) that Van Oudenhoven's expungement does not count as an expungement for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii).

When interpreting a statute, courts must begin with the text of the statute. State v. Duewell, 369 Wis.2d 72, ¶6, 879 N.W.2d 808 (Wis.App. 2016). If the meaning of the text is clear and unambiguous, then the inquiry ends. Id.

Congress did not define what it meant by the word "expunged." The Supreme Court of the United States, however, has analyzed the history of the exemption language and has discussed the meaning of the terms. In Dickerson v. New Banner Institute, Inc., 460 U.S. 103, 103 S.Ct. 986, 74 L.Ed.2d 845 (1983), the Court considered the effect of a state conviction

expungement on the federal felon in possession of a firearm statute (18) U.S.C. § 922(g)(1)). This was before the enactment of the exemptions in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20) and (a)(33). Dickerson ruled that an expungement did not remove the federal prohibition on firearm possession, noting, "expunction under state law does not alter the historical fact of the conviction..." and "expunction does not alter the legality of the previous conviction and does not signify that the defendant was innocent of the crime...." 460 U.S. at 115. Dickerson went on to observe that expungement statutes in the states vary widely in their scope and effects. 460 U.S. at 121 ("Over half the states have enacted one or more statutes that may be classified as expunction provisions that attempt to conceal prior convictions or to remove some of their collateral or residual effects. These statutes differ, however, in almost every particular.... The statutes also differ in their actual effect.")

In response to *Dickerson*, Congress implemented the exception in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20). *Logan v. United States*, 128 S.Ct. 475, 169 L.Ed.2d 432, 552 U.S. 23, 35 (2007), *citing McGrath v. United States*, 60F.3d 1005,

¹ The exemption in the present case for MCDVs, in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33), is identical in material respects to the exemption for felons in possession of firearms in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20), so cases analyzing one inform the interpretation of the other.

1008 (2d Cir. 1995) cert. denied, 1996 U.S. LEXIS 1074. Ten years later, Congress adopted the similarly-worded exemption at issue in the present case (found in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii)). 552 U.S. at 36. In Logan, the Court noted, "Congress' decision to have restoration triggered by events governed by state law insured anomalous results. The several states have considerably different laws governing pardon, expungement, and forfeiture and restoration of civil rights." 552 U.S. at 34. The Court announced a common understanding of "expungement," "set-aside," "pardoned," and "civil rights restored" as "Each term describes a measure by which the government relieves an offender of *some* or all of the consequences of his conviction. 552 U.S. at 32 [emphasis supplied]. The Court did not overrule its declaration from *Dickerson* that expungement does not alter the historical fact of conviction, alter the legality of the conviction, nor signify that the defendant was innocent.

Under a plain reading of 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii), Van Oudenhoven should not be considered to be convicted of a MCDV. It is not the province of the judiciary to attempt to fill in perceived gaps in what Congress enacted. Logan, 552 U.S. at 35, FN 6 ("Enlargement of a statute by a court so that what was omitted, presumably by inadvertence, may be included within its scope transcends the judicial function.") When Congress

said an expungement negates a conviction for purposes of MCDV consideration, we must assume it meant what it said.

The circuit court disagreed, with a one-sentence analysis:

Hence, since the Wisconsin expungement procedure does not completely remove the consequence of the conviction, it appears to fall outside of the expungement exception to the firearm restriction. See 18 USC 922, and 18 USC 921. See also Crank v. United States, 539 F.3d 1236 (10th Cir 2008).

Doc. 18, p. 3-4.

In Van Oudenhoven's administrative appeals, the Department explained its disagreement with Van Oudenhoven's position:

Prior to a court decision in December 2018, the Department of Justice took the position that individuals with an expunged conviction could possess a firearm. In December 2018, however, in State v. Braunschweig, 2018 WI 113, 384 Wis.2d 742, 921 N.W.2d 199, the Wisconsin Supreme Court write that '[e]xpunction ... does not invalidate the conviction.' Id. ¶ 22 (emphasis added). As a result, a person whose conviction prohibited possession of a firearm before expungement remains prohibited from possessing a firearm after expungement.

Doc 8, pp. 2-3. The circuit court relied on *Braunschweig* for the proposition that expungement does not completely remove the consequence of the conviction. The issue in *Braunschweig* was whether a previous (expunged) conviction for operating while intoxicated ("OWI") would make a subsequent conviction a second one for sentencing purposes. This Court said that it would count, because an expunged conviction is not an

invalidated conviction and the Department of Motor Vehicles may keep its own traffic records even if court records have been expunged.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the Circuit Court. "Consistent with the meaning of "expunged or set aside" in 18 U.S.C. 921(a)(33)(B)(ii) and the effect of Wisconsin expungement espoused in *Braunschweig*, Van Oudenhoven's conviction was not completely removed of all effects and remains valid for purposes of denying him permission to purchase a firearm in Wisconsin under federal law." 2024 WI App. 38, ¶ 45.

The problem with the decisions of the courts below is that nothing in the federal statute requires that an expungement have the effect of invalidating the conviction. As the Supreme Court of the United States noted in *Logan*, expungement means merely a measure by which the government relieves an offender of some or all of the consequences of his conviction. And, expungement means something different from state to state and apparently never has the effect of completely undoing the conviction. It is erroneous to conclude that the expungement has to remove all consequences of a conviction, especially in light of *Dickerson's* conclusion that that is not what an expungement does.

The Court of Appeals' ruling might be more applicable in a different case, say one where a *state* law prohibits possession of a firearm for a

conviction. But that is not the situation before the Court in the present case. The present question is whether an expunged conviction under *state* law for what would otherwise be a MCDV counts as an expungement under *federal* law. It is important to note here that Wisconsin has no independent state-law analog for a MCDV. Either Van Oudenhoven's conviction counts as a MCDV under federal law or it has no effect at all on his right to possess firearms.

In effect, the court of appeals' decision writes into the federal statute language that Congress did not pass – that an expungement only eliminates a MCDV if the expungement has the effect of invalidating the conviction. If Congress sought that result, it surely knew how to say it. Instead, the federal statute contains a provision that makes Van Oudenhoven's conviction not count because it was expunged and because the expungement does not make an express exception for possession of firearms.

The Department plainly said in its administrative record that the reason it denied the transfer was because of a federal prohibition. Because the federal statute contains an exception for expunged convictions, federal law is not dependent on the effect *under state law* of the expungement. The federal statute does not require that the state expungement have any particular effect on the conviction as a matter of state law. In fact, the

federal statute applies equally to a conviction that was expunged *or set* aside. When Congress created the exception, it surely knew what the Supreme Court said in *Dickerson* about state expungements: they vary widely in their effect and they do not undo the conviction. Congress is presumed to know the state of the law when it passes a new law. Fogerty v. Fantasy, Inc., 510 U.S. 517, 528 (1994) ("Congress is presumed to be aware of a[] ... judicial interpretation of a statute and to adopt that interpretation when it ... enacts a statute without change...."); Goodyear Atomic Corp. v. Miller, 486 U.S. 174, 185 (1988) ("We generally presume that Congress is knowledgeable about existing law pertinent to the legislation it enacts.") With the foregoing in mind, it is difficult to conclude that Congress meant something other than an expungement described in *Dickerson* when it passed the exception.

The Court of Appeals relied largely on Crank for its conclusion that a state law expungement only counts for federal purposes if it completely removes the effects of a conviction. Because this case involves the interpretation of law, this Court must conduct a *de novo* review. *Nehls v*. *Nehls*, 343 Wis.2d 499, 819 N.W.2d 335, 2012 WI App 85 ¶ 7 (Wis.App. 2012)

The *Crank* case is not binding on this Court. *State v. Mechtel*, 176 Wis.2d 87, 499 N.W.2d 662, 666 (1993) ("It is clear, however, that determinations on federal questions by either the federal circuit courts of appeal or the federal district courts are not binding upon state courts.") On the other hand, as a decision of the Supreme Court of the United States, *Logan* is binding on this Court.

The *Crank* court concluded that when Congress wrote "expunged or set aside," it intended the words both to mean the same thing: "erase or destroy" and "annul or vacate." 539 F.2d at 1245. *Crank* came to that conclusion because the "unless" clause omits the phrase "set aside." And, *Crank* decided, unless the expungement erased all vestiges of a conviction, it was not an expungement for federal MCDV purposes. This conclusion, however, writes into the statute an unless clause that Congress did not create ("unless such pardon, expungement, or restoration of civil rights expressly provides that the person may not ship, transport, possess, or receive firearms.")

The Court of Appeals' decision also improperly groups "expunged or set aside" into a single item. As a reminder, the statute's exception clause has four disjunctive options: 1) expunged; 2) set aside; 3) pardoned, and 4) civil rights restored. The *Logan* court supports that disjunctive listing when

it says, "None of Logan's battery convictions have been expunged, set aside, or pardoned." 552 U.S. at 31. In addition, "[T]he words 'civil rights restored' appear in the company of the words 'expunged,' 'set aside,' and 'pardoned.' *Each* term describes a measure by which the government relieves an offender of some or all of the consequences of his conviction." *Id.* [Emphasis added].

The Court of Appeals treated "expunged or set aside" as a single term. 2024 WI App. 38, ¶ 24 ("We must now determine the meaning of 'expunged or set aside.... Therefore for a state conviction that has been expunged not to count as a 'conviction,' it must meet the meaning of 'expunged or set aside'...."). The Court of Appeals concluded, "[T]he plain meaning of 'expunged or set aside' is better described as 'a measure by which the government relieves an offender of ... all of the consequences of his conviction,' rather than 'some' consequences." 2024 WI App. 38, ¶ 26 [emphasis in original].

The Court of Appeals' treatment of "expunged or set aside" as a single term inevitably resulted in the Court's defining the term to mean just "set aside." It is clear, however, that that is not what Congress intended. The unless clause only lists the pardon, expungement, or restoration of rights and it omits set aside. That is because "Set aside" means "To reverse, vacate, cancel, annul, or revoke a judgment, order, etc." *Black's Law Dictionary*, Sixth Ed. If a conviction is set

aside, by definition the conviction cannot continue to have lingering effects (like preventing possession of a firearm).

On the other hand, an expungement, pardon, or restoration of rights *can* have such lingering effects, at least in Congress' view. If an expungement means the same as "set aside" and must completely negate a conviction, then including an expungement in the unless clause would have served no purpose. Clearly, Congress contemplated that there could be an expungement that would not completely undo a conviction.

The "Anti-Mousetrapping" Interpretation Favors Van Oudenhoven

Summary: The Anti-Mousetrapping Rule Works to Interpret the

Expungement as an Expungement Under Federal Law

The 7th Circuit provides a different analysis. In *United States v*.

Erwin, 902 F.2d 510 (7th Cir. 1990), the Court considered the language of 18

U.S.C. § 921(a)(20) (which contains the identical unless clause as 18 U.S.C.

§ 921(a)(33)). The Court concluded that the unless clause is an "antimousetrapping" rule. 902 F.2d at 512 ("If the state sends a felon a piece of paper implying that he is no longer 'convicted' and that all civil rights have been restored, a reservation in a corner of the state's penal code can not be the basis of a federal prosecution.") Erwin was followed in *United States v*.

Glaser, 14 F.2d 1213 (7th Cir. 1994).

In the present case, the state issued Van Oudenhoven a document called an "Order on Petition to Expunge Court Record of Conviction." expungement." Doc. 10, p. 3. In it, the circuit court ordered "The clerk is ordered to expunge the court's record of conviction." *Id.* The Order says nothing about firearms. Under the *Erwin-Glaser* logic, because the State of Wisconsin gave Van Oudenhoven a piece of paper implying that his conviction had been erased, the State was required to tell him (if indeed it were so) that he could not possess firearms. Because the State failed to do so, the exception clause of 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33) applies and Van Oudenhoven is not "convicted" of the MCDV. The 4th Circuit agrees with the 7th Circuit. *United States v. McBryde*, 938 F.2d 533 (4th Cir. 1991).

Conclusion

Van Oudenhoven has not been convicted of a MCDV because his battery conviction was expunged. Van Oudenhoven requests the Court reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals with an order requiring the Department to approve the transfer and not to consider Van Oudenhoven's 1994 conviction to be a MCDV for any future purposes.

Electronically signed by:

John R. Monroe

Attorney for Petitioner