Filed 03-10-2023

Page 1 of 18

FILED 03-10-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2023AP0070-FT

SCOT VAN OUDENHOVEN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Respondent-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERESA S. BASILIERE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

BRIAN P. KEENAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1056525

Attorneys for Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-0020 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) keenanbp@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 6
I. DOJ reviews handgun purchases on behalf of the federal government
II. Van Oudenhoven was convicted of misdemeanor battery against the mother of his child, the record of which was later expunged
III. Van Oudenhoven attempts to purchase a firearm, but DOJ blocks the sale due to his conviction
IV. The circuit court affirms the denial
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. DOJ has the authority to deny a firearm purchase because it is a point of contact for the federal government, which is recognized by state law
II. Van Oudenhoven is barred from possessing a firearm even though the record of his conviction was expunged11
A. The battery conviction is a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence11
B. The expungement did not restore Van Oudenhoven's right to possess a firearm
C. The authority relied upon by Van Oudenhoven does not support his argument
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases DOR v. River City Refuse Removal, Inc.,
2007 WI 27, 299 Wis. 2d 561, 729 N.W.2d 396
Jennings v. Mukasey, 511 F.3d 894 (9th Cir. 2007) 12, 13
Lake Beulah Mgmt. Dist. v. DNR, 2011 WI 54, 335 Wis. 2d 47, 799 N.W.2d 73
Logan v. United States, 552 U.S. 23 (2007)
People v. Frawley, 98 Cal. Rptr. 2d 555 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000)
State v. Braunschweig, 2018 WI 113, 384 Wis. 2d 742, 921 N.W.2d 199
<i>Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR,</i> 2018 WI 75, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21
United States v. Castleman, 572 U.S. 157 (2014) 11
United States v. Erwin, 902 F.2d 510 (7th Cir. 1990)16
Wyoming ex rel. Crank v. United States, 539 F.3d 1236 (10th Cir. 2008) 12–13, 14, 15
Statutes 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20) 14, 15, 16
18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A) 11
18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii) 6, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17
18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9)
34 U.S.C. § 40901(b)(1)

6

INTRODUCTION

The Wisconsin Department of Justice denied Scot Van Oudenhoven's handgun purchase because he had been convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. He offers two theories for reversal, but neither is correct.

First, DOJ can deny purchases based on federal law because it performs background checks as an agent of the federal government. Further, state law recognizes that DOJ will be reviewing for federal violation.

Second, the exception for expunged convictions, but that does not apply here. Federal courts hold that an expungement must wipe out all the consequences of a conviction. A Wisconsin expungement does not negate the fact of the conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Federal law allows states to serve as a "point of contact" for federal background checks. The federal government appointed DOJ as a point of contact, which is recognized by the state statute governing firearm background checks. Does DOJ have the authority to deny a firearm purchase based on a federal prohibition?

The circuit court did not expressly address this issue but impliedly answered yes by affirming DOJ's decision.

This Court should answer yes and affirm.

2. Federal law bars someone convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence from possessing a firearm. While the law includes an exception for convictions that have been "expunged or set aside," federal courts interpret this exception to require that the expungement completely remove the effects of the conviction. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that an expungement under Wisconsin law does not remove all effects of the conviction.

Does Van Oudenhoven's Wisconsin expungement fall outside the exception under federal law?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer yes and affirm.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

DOJ does not request oral argument.

Publication may be warranted to clarify whether Wisconsin expungements are within the scope of 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii). See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1. DOJ notes that this is an issue of federal statutory interpretation, but which is relevant to state court proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. DOJ reviews handgun purchases on behalf of the federal government.

In the 1990s, the federal government established the national instant criminal background check system (NICS) to determine "whether receipt of a firearm by a prospective transferee would violate section 922 of Title 18 or State law." 34 U.S.C. § 40901(b)(1). The regulations implementing NICS recognize that a person may be "denied the right to obtain a firearm as a result of a NICS background check performed by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) or a state or local law enforcement agency." 28 C.F.R. § 25.1.

Those regulations define a "POC (Point of Contact)" as "a state or local law enforcement agency serving as an intermediary between an FFL [federal firearm licensee] and the federal databases checked by the NICS." 28 C.F.R. § 25.2. POCs "receive NICS background check requests from FFLs, check state or local record systems, perform NICS inquiries, determine whether matching records provide information demonstrating that an individual is disqualified from possessing a firearm under Federal or state law, and respond to FFLs with the results of a NICS background check." 28 C.F.R. § 25.2. The regulations further provide that "[i]n states where a POC is designated to process background checks for the NICS, FFLs will contact the POC to initiate a NICS background check." 28 C.F.R. § 25.6(d). The POC then conducts the background check and approves or denies the request depending on the results. 28 C.F.R. § 25.6(g)(2).

Since 1998, DOJ has "act[ed] as the point of contact for NICS checks for handgun transfers." (R. 15:13–14.) This was announced in a November 9, 1998, open letter from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms to all Wisconsin federal firearms licensees directing licensees to contact DOJ to request background checks for handgun transactions. (R. 15:13–14.)

II. Van Oudenhoven was convicted of misdemeanor battery against the mother of his child, the record of which was later expunged.

On September 15, 1994, Van Oudenhoven was convicted of misdemeanor battery under Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1), Case No. 94-CM-119 in Calumet County Circuit Court. (R. 8:15.) The police report indicated that he and the victim "have a baby (four weeks old together)." (R. 8:41.)

In 2019, the circuit court ordered "the clerk . . . to expunge the court's record of the conviction." (R. 10:3.)

III. Van Oudenhoven attempts to purchase a firearm, but DOJ blocks the sale due to his conviction.

In May 2022, Van Oudenhoven attempted to purchase a firearm. (R. 8:10.) DOJ denied the purchase. (R. 8:7, 10.) Van Oudenhoven appealed the denial through DOJ's administrative process. (R. 8:7.) DOJ sustained the denial, concluding that his conviction for battery was a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). (R. 8:6.) Van Oudenhoven appealed DOJ's upholding of the denial under Wis. Admin. Code JUS § 10.08, arguing that DOJ erred in treating his expunged conviction as a conviction. (R. 8:4.)

DOJ affirmed the denial. (R. 8:2–3.) It first noted that a misdemeanor battery conviction when the victim is the mother of the perpetrator's child qualifies as a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. (R. 8:2.) It then explained that an expunged conviction did not restore the right to possess a firearm because the Wisconsin Supreme Court holds that an expunction does not invalidate the underlying conviction. (R. 8:2–3 (citing *State v. Braunschweig*, 2018 WI 113, ¶ 22, 384 Wis. 2d 742, 921 N.W.2d 199).)

IV. The circuit court affirms the denial.

After briefing by the parties (R. 13; 15–16), the circuit court affirmed DOJ's denial of the firearm purchase in a written decision (R. 18). The court first determined that Van Oudenhoven's conviction was a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. (R. 18:2–3.) It then held that "since the Wisconsin expungement procedure does not completely remove the consequence of the conviction, it appears to fall outside the expungement exception to the firearm restriction." (R. 18:4.)

This appeal followed. (R. 20.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is a judicial review under chapter 227. In an appeal of "a circuit court order reviewing an agency decision," this Court reviews "the decision of the agency, not the circuit court." *Lake Beulah Mgmt. Dist. v. DNR*, 2011 WI 54, ¶ 25, 335 Wis. 2d 47, 799 N.W.2d 73. Van Oudenhoven asks this Court to "set aside or modify" DOJ's decision because he alleges that it "erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels a particular action." Wis. Stat. § 227.57(5).

This Court's reviews statutory interpretation issues de novo. *DOR v. River City Refuse Removal, Inc.*, 2007 WI 27, ¶ 26, 299 Wis. 2d 561, 729 N.W.2d 396. Courts no longer defer to the statutory interpretations of administrative agencies. Wis. Stat. § 227.57(11); *Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR*, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 108, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21.

ARGUMENT

I. DOJ has the authority to deny a firearm purchase because it is a point of contact for the federal government, which is recognized by state law.

Van Oudenhoven contends that DOJ has no authority to deny a firearm purchase based on a violation of federal law. This argument ignores that DOJ is a federal point of contact and thus performs background checks on behalf of the federal government. This status gives DOJ the authority to block sales that would be in violation of federal law. Van Oudenhoven's brief does not even address this federal authority, even though DOJ briefed it in the circuit court. (R. 15:9–11.)

As noted above, the federal government can make a state law enforcement agency a POC for performing background checks on firearm purchases. 28 C.F.R. § 25.2. The regulations specifically provide that in states like Wisconsin, "where a POC is designated to process background checks," the federally licensed firearm dealers are to "contact the POC to initiate a NICS background check." 28 C.F.R. § 25.6(d). The POC then conducts the background check and approves or denies the request depending on the results. 28 C.F.R. § 25.6(g)(2). Since 1998, the State of Wisconsin has "act[ed] as the point of contact for NICS checks for handgun transfers." (R. 15:13–14.) ATF issued an open letter to all Wisconsin federal firearms licensees directing them to contact DOJ for background checks on handgun transactions. (R. 15:13–14.) As a result of these federal statutes and regulations, DOJ has the authority to deny firearms purchases that would violate federal law because it is acting as an agent of the federal government.¹

State law recognizes DOJ's authority to deny based on federal law. The state statute relating to DOJ's firearm background checks provides that

If the search indicates that it is unclear whether the person is prohibited under state *or federal law from possessing a firearm* and the department needs more time to make the determination, the department shall make every reasonable effort to determine whether the person is prohibited under state *or federal law from possessing a firearm* and notify the firearms dealer of the results as soon as practicable....

Wis. Stat. § 175.35(2g)(c)4.c. This shows the Legislature understood DOJ would be performing NICS background checks for the federal government as a POC and notifying dealers when transfers were prohibited under federal law. And the statutes also recognize that DOJ has the authority to contract with the federal government. *See* Wis. Stat. § 165.23(15).

Van Oudenhoven claims that DOJ has no authority based on different sections of Wis. Stat. § 175.35 that do not mention federal law. But these are additional, Wisconsin-

¹ Van Oudenhoven says the federal law bars possession of a firearm, not a purchase. (App. Br. 6.) This distinction is immaterial because someone purchasing a firearm will possess the firearm upon completion of the purchase.

specific provisions that allow for denial on state-law grounds. They do not invalidate section 175.35(2g)(c)4.c., which specifically provides that DOJ will be reviewing for federal law prohibitions. That provision does not address the process for denials based on federal law because that is governed by federal law, which states cannot change.

II. Van Oudenhoven is barred from possessing a firearm even though the record of his conviction was expunged.

A. The battery conviction is a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence.

Van Oudenhoven does not contest that his conviction was a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence under 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9), defined as a misdemeanor that "has, as an element, the use or attempted use of physical force . . . committed by" someone with one of a specified list of domestic relationships. 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A). Here, the relevant relationship is "by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common." *Id*.

Battery in Wisconsin is a crime that "has, as an element, the use or attempted use of physical force" under 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A). A crime with an element of mere "offensive touching" qualifies as a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. *United States v. Castleman*, 572 U.S. 157, 162–63 (2014). That is met here, where battery requires one to "cause[] bodily harm to another by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person or another without the consent of the person so harmed." Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1).

The battery conviction also satisfies the domestic relationship requirement because the victim and Van Oudenhoven had a child in common. (R. 8:41.)

B. The expungement did not restore Van Oudenhoven's right to possess a firearm.

While Van Oudenhoven's conviction was expunged, expungements under Wisconsin law do not meet the definition of an "expungement" necessary to restore firearm rights under federal law.

Federal law provides that someone "shall not be considered to have been convicted of such an offense for purposes of this chapter if the conviction has been *expunged or set aside*." 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(B)(ii). In defining "expunged or set aside," federal courts hold that "that Congress intended both terms equivalently to require that a state procedure completely remove the effects of the conviction in question." Wyoming ex rel. Crank v. United States, 539 F.3d 1236, 1245 (10th Cir. 2008); Jennings v. Mukasey, 511 F.3d 894 (9th Cir. 2007).

In the Tenth Circuit case, the State of Wyoming challenged ATF's interpretation of the term "expunged" in section 921(a)(33)(B)(ii). Crank, 539 F.3d at 1238-39. The court, conducting a de novo review of the ATF interpretation, began by noting that "[t]here are two possible interpretations for the phrase 'expunged or set aside." *Id.* at 1244. One was that "that Congress intended the two terms to have separate meanings," while the other was that Congress "intended the two terms to have the same meaning and used separate terms merely to avoid potential issues of terminology created by the varying language used in the different laws of the States." *Id.* at 1245. The court concluded that "Congress intended both terms equivalently to require that a state procedure completely remove the effects of the conviction in question." *Id.*

The court offered two plain language reasons for its interpretation. First, dictionary definitions indicated that both terms "require a complete removal of the effects of a

Page 13 of 18

conviction." *Id.* Second, the structure of the statute "suggests that Congress intended the terms to be interpreted equivalently." *Id.* The first part of subsection 921(a)(33)(B)(ii) lists four state actions that remove disability: expunging, setting aside, pardoning, or restoring civil rights. *Id.* The second part, however, only uses three terms: pardoning, expunging, or restoring civil rights. *Id.* This showed that Congress intended the term "expunging" to include both expunging and setting aside and thus they both have the same meaning. *Id.*

The Tenth Circuit relied on the Ninth Circuit's Jennings decision, in which a firearms licensee challenged the ATF's denial of his renewal application based on a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence that had been expunged under California law. 511 F.3d at 896. The Ninth Circuit relied on a California decision that held the relevant statute "does not, properly speaking, 'expunge' the prior conviction." Id. at 898 (quoting People v. Frawley, 98 Cal. Rptr. 2d 555, 559 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000)). The California "statute does not purport to render the conviction a legal nullity" and provided that it "is ineffectual to avoid specified consequences of a prior conviction." Id. (quoting Frawley, 98 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 559). As a result, the Ninth Circuit held that the relief the dealer obtained under California law "did not expunge his conviction for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9)." Id. at 899.

The same is true here. Under the definition used by the federal courts, an expungement under Wisconsin law is not an "expungement" under section 921(a)(33)(B)(ii) because it does not completely remove the effects of conviction. In *Braunschweig*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that an expunged conviction is still a conviction, just with the record of that conviction removed from court files. *Braunschweig*, 384 Wis. 2d 742, ¶¶ 19–24. Therefore, the person still has

been "convicted" of the crime even if it has been expunged from the court records.

The Braunschweig court reasoned that the expunction statute has the effect of "expunging the record," *id.* ¶ 19 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.015(1m)(b)), which means "the clerk of court seals the case and destroys the court records." *Id.* The court contrasted that outcome with a sentence that is vacated, which "unlike expunction, removes the fact of conviction." *Id.* ¶ 21. The court concluded: "Vacatur invalidates the conviction itself, whereas expunction of a conviction merely deletes the evidence of the underlying conviction from court records. Expunction, unlike vacatur, does not invalidate the conviction." *Id.* ¶ 22. In *Braunschweig*, that holding meant that the defendant's prior expunged conviction would be considered for purposes of sentencing for a subsequent offense. *Id.* ¶ 2.

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